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" EILED IN CLERK'S OFFICE

U.S.D.C. - Allanta

MAY 18 2016
JAMES N. HATEN, Clerk
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT °© y Clerk
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA
ATLANTA DIVISION
DELFIN GROUP USA LLC, and *
VIVVA M SIA, for itself and *
derivatively as a member of and *
on behalf of *
DELFIN GROUP USA LLC *
*
Plaintiffs, * CIVIL ACTION NO.'
* °
. ) 1216-Cv-1594
*
MARKOS BAGHDASARIAN, * JURY TRIAL DEMAND
*
Defendant, *
COMPLAINT

Come Now, Plaintiffs, Delfin Group USA, LLC (“Delfin”), and Vivva M
SIA (“Vivva”), for itself and derivatively in its capacity as a member of Delfin,!
and file their Complaint against the above-named Defendant on the following
grounds:
INTRODUCTION
1. This is an action for breach of fiduciary duty and other relief by a company

against its former President and member, who was charged by the United States

! Delfin and Vivva are sometimes referred to herein collectively as “Plaintiff.”
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Attorney with violations of federal laws, among others, for unlawfully and
willfully facilitating trade with Iran and exporting and causing the export of goods
from the United States to Iran, and who pleaded guilty to the charges against him
and was accordingly sentenced for his crime in the United States District Court for
the District of South Carolina. Plaintiffs seek damages caused by Defendant by his
unlawful actions.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

2. The jurisdiction of this Court is invoked pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1332
(Diversity of Citizenship).

3. Plaintiff Delfin is a Georgia limited liability company. Plaintiff Vivva
is a corporation registered and existing under the laws of the Republic of Latvia.
Vivva is the sole member and manager of Delfin. Pursuant to the applicable law,
for purposes of diversity jurisdiction, Plaintiff Delfin is deemed a citizen of Latvia.

4, On information and belief, Defendant is a citizen and resident of the
State of Georgia, County of Fulton, residing at 650 Saint Regis Lane, Alpharetta,
GA 30022. The Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant by virtue of his
residence and citizenship.

5. The amount in controversy exceeds $75,000.
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6.  Venue is proper in this Court under 28 U.S.C. §1391, as Defendant is

domiciled within the Northern District of Georgia.
FACTS

7. Delfin is a company that, until December 2015, owned and operated a
facility in Charleston, South Carolina, that manufactured and supplied automotive,
marine and aviation lubricants to customers in domestic and global markets.

8. In December 2015, Delfin sold its lubricant blending and packing
center in Charleston, South Carolina, to Amalie Oil Company.

9.  Defendant was at all relevant times the President of Delfin, managing
its operations on a day-to-day basis. In addition, from January 3, 2007, the date of
the formation of Delfin, until December 15, 2010, Defendant was a member of
Delfin, with an ownership interest of fifty percent (50%). On December 15, 2010,
Defendant assigned his entire membership interest in Delfin to Plaintiff Vivva.

10.  After the assignment of his membership interest, Vivva became the
sole member of Delfin, while Defendant remained the President of Delfin,
continuing to run and being responsible for the company’s day-to-day operations.

11. In the criminal complaint, dated May 18, 2012, filed in the United

States District Court for the District of South Carolina, in the matter of U.S. v.
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Baghdasarian, Case No. 2:12 mj 83 (“Criminal Complaint”), Defendant was
charged with the following crimes:

a) Under 50 U.S.C. §1705, 31 C.F.R. Part 560, and 18 U.S.C. §2, for
unlawfully and willfully exporting and causing the export of goods from
the United States to Iran without the required U.S. Department of
Treasury licenses, as well as attempting and conspiring to do the same, in
violation of the International Emergency Economic Powers Act and
Iranian Transaction Regulations; and

b) Under 18 U.S.C. §1001 and 18 U.S.C. §2, for making or causing to be
made a false statement or representation.

A true copy of the Criminal Complaint is annexed hereto as Exhibit A.

12.  According to the affidavit of Special Agent John Hardin, dated May
18, 2012, filed in support of the Criminal Complaint and application for arrest
warrant, and the indictment issued in the case, from June 2010 until October 2011,
Defendant engaged in an elaborate transshipment scheme, the goal of which was to
circumvent the restrictions on selling products to Iran.

13.  According to the prosecution, Defendant, among other things:

e engaged in unlawful transactions with customers in Iran, including an

oil company owned by the government of Iran;
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e exported aviation engine oils and polymer to Iran;

e concealed that Iranian customers were the true recipients by falsely
asserting in official documents that a business entity in the United
Arab Emirates was the ultimate consignee for the goods;

e registered “paper” companies in the United Arab Emirates for the
purpose of furthering his criminal scheme;

e produced fictitious labels for Delfin’s products in order to conceal the
company’s identity from export enforcement officials; and

e throughout acted with knowledge and intent to violate the law and to
conceal this scheme through false documents and statements to
authorities.

14. Defendant was arrested on May 19, 2012 at the Hartsfield
International Airport in Atlanta, while he was waiting to board a flight to the
United Arab Emirates.

15. In December 2012, Defendant went to trial in the United States
District Court for the District of South Carolina. Two days into the trial,

Defendant pleaded guilty to the charges against him.
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16. On June 12, 2013, Defendant was sentenced to thirty-six months in
prison. In April 2014, his sentence was reduced by a year. On information and
belief, he was released from prison on or about April 14, 2015.

17.  As adirect consequence of Defendant’s criminal scheme, the U.S.
Bureau of Industry and Security (BIS) issued an Order Temporarily Denying
Export Privileges to Delfin, the effect of which was to prohibit all exports of
Delfin’s products from the U.S.

18.  Further, as a direct consequence of Defendant’s criminal scheme,
several containers of Delfin’s product were seized and confiscated by U.S.
Customs, resulting in a total loss of the product to Delfin.

19.  As adirect and proximate result of Defendant’s criminal conduct,
Plaintiff Delfin became enmeshed in legal and administrative proceedings,
incurring over a million and a half dollars in legal fees and costs in the process, as
well as shipping and warehousing costs.

20. Specifically, the damages sustained by Plaintiffs as a direct and
proximate result of Defendant’s criminal conduct are as follows:

a) Value of Product Seized by U.S. Customs: $2,411,655.54;

b)  Freight Costs: $50,000.00;

c¢)  Shipping Costs: $150,000.00;
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d) Legal Fees and Related Costs: $1,635,720.64.

21.  In this action Plaintiffs seek recovery of these damages from
Defendant.

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(For Breach of Fiduciary Duty)

22. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations set
forth in all prior paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

23.  Atall relevant times herein, Defendant was the President of Delfin.

24.  As President of Delfin, Defendant owed a fiduciary duty to the
company, and was required to discharge his duties in good faith and with the care
of an ordinary person in a like position.

25. Defendant’s criminal conduct set forth above, to which he had
admitted by his plea of guilty in the criminal action, was fraudulent, in bad faith
and an abuse of his discretion, and constitutes a gross violation of his fiduciary
duty to Delfin.

26.  Asadirect and proximate result of Defendant’s conduct, Plaintiff
Delfin sustained damages in the amount of at least $4,247,376, which it is entitled

to recover from Defendant.
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SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(For Violation of O.C.G.A §14-11-305)

27. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations set
forth in all prior paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

28. Section 14-11-305(1) of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated
mandates that a “member or manager shall act . . . with the care an ordinary
prudent person in a like position would exercise under similar circumstances.”

29. Official Code of Georgia Annotated Section 14-11-305(4)(AX1)
further provides that while a member’s or manager’s duties and liabilities may be
expanded, restricted or limited in a written operating agreement, “no such
provision shall eliminate or limit the liability of a member or manager: (i) For
intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of the law; ... .”

30. During a portion of the relevant time, specifically, from June 13, 2010
(the commencement of the criminal scheme) until December 15, 2010 (the
assignment of Defendant’s interest to Vivva), Defendant was a member of Delfin.

31. Defendant’s criminal conduct during the period when he was a
member of Delfin was in direct violation of O.C.G.A §14-11-305, as it did not

comport with the care an ordinary prudent person in a like position would exercise

under similar circumstances.
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32. As adirect and proximate result of Defendant’s conduct, Plaintiff
Delfin sustained damages in the amount of at least $4,247,376, which it is entitled
to recover from Defendant.

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(For Fraud and Deceit)

33. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations set
forth in all prior paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

34. Defendant’s criminal conduct constitutes fraud and deceit on Plaintiff
Delfin and its sole member, Plaintiff Vivva.

35. In order to conceal his criminal scheme from the owners of Delfin,
Defendant made certain that the books and records of Delfin reflected that the
illegal shipments were destined for the United Arab Emirates, rather than their true
destination, Iran.

36. Specifically, Defendant, through numerous false representations,
caused Delfin’s accounting, shipping and other company records to contain false
information concerning the true destination of Delfin’s product.

37. The false information concerning the destination of Delfin’s products

was placed by Defendant into the company’s records with the knowledge that it
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was false and with the intent that the company and its owner, Plaintiff Vivva, rely
on this information.

38.  The false information concerning the destination of Delfin’s product
was placed by Defendant into the company records with the intent to conceal from
Delfin and Vivva his criminal scheme, and to cause Delfin and Vivva to refrain
from taking any action to stop his criminal conduct.

39. Plaintiffs justifiably relied on the information in the company’s
records, specifically, on the lack of any information in those records about
Defendant’s illegal conduct.

40. Because of Defendant’s deliberate concealment of his criminal
activity by means, among other things, of placing false information in Delfin’s
company records, Plaintiffs were not aware of Defendant’s criminal conduct and,
consequently, could not and did not take steps to stop it. This was Defendant’s
intent and part of his scheme.

41.  As adirect and proximate result of Defendant’s conduct, Plaintiffs
sustained damages in the amount of at least $4,247,376, which they are entitled to
recover from Defendant.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs demand judgment against Defendant as follows:

10



Case 1:16-cv-01594-MHC Document 1 Filed 05/18/16 Page 11 of 28

A. ON THE FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD CLAIMS FOR RELIEF, for
compensatory damages in the amount of $4,247,376;

B. Punitive damages for Defendant’s egregious and willful fraudulent
conduct, in the amount to be determined at the trial of this action;

C. Reasonable attorney’s fees and costs incurred by Plaintiffs in the
prosecution of this action;

D. Such other and further relief as this Court may deem just and proper; and,

E. Plaintiff demands a trial by jury.

Dated: May ﬁ, 2016

W(%WM

“Michael C. Murphy
Georgia Bar 531000
Attorney for Plaintiffs

Murphy Law Group, P.C.

4989 Peachtree Parkway, Ste. 200
Peachtree Corners, GA 30092
(770) 246-2590 Phone

(770) 248-0537 Facsimile

(404) 580-0796 Mobile
michaelcmurphy@att.net

11
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Of Counsel:

Oleg Rivkin, Esq.

Rivkin Law Group pllc

800 Third Avenue

New York, New York 10022
(212) 231-9776
or(@rivkinlawgroup.com

12
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CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH LOCAL RULE 5.1
The undersigned hereby certifies that the foregoing document has been
prepared in accordance with the font type and margin requirements of Local Rule
5.1 of the Northern District of Georgia, using a font type of Times New Roman

and a point size of 14.

feifud C W,/

Michael C. Murphy
Attorney for Plaintiffs
Georgia Bar No. 53100

13
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EXHIBIT A
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AQ 9] (Rev. 11/11) Criminal Complaint

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
District of South Carolina
United States of America )
v. ) .
MARKOS BAGHDASARIAN ; Case No. OIL 12 M\\ &>
)
)
)
Defendani(s)
CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

I, the complainant in this case, state that the following is true to the best of my knowledge and belief.
On or about the date(s) of _June 13, 2010 - October 12, 2011 in the county of Charleston in the
District of South Carolina , the defendant(s) violated:

Code Section Offense Description

50 US.C.§1705 Uniawfully and willfully exporting and causing the export of goods from the

31 C.F.R, Part 560 United States to Iran without the required U.S. Department of Treasury

18US.C.§2 licenses, as well as attempting and conspiring to do the same, in violation of
the International Emergency Economic Powers Act and Iranian Transactions
Regulstions

18 U.S.C. § 1001 making or causing to be made a false statement or representation

18US.C.§2 :

This criminal complaint is based on these facts:

SEE ATTACHED AFFIDAVIT

o Continued on the attached sheet.

N -
é Complainant’s signature

Swomn to before me and signed in my presence.
/

Date: /)4/1“’3 {5’4 Q2 N 1’/

Judé "signamt)/ '
City and state: Charleston, SC BRISTOW MARCHANT, U.S.\WMagi e Judge
Printed name and title

2
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AFFIDAVIT IN SUPPORT OF A
CRIMINAL COMPLAINT AND ARREST WARRANT

This affidavit is being submitted by the affiant, Special Agent John W. Hardin, in support

of a criminal complaint and application for arrest warrant relating to:
MARKOS BAGHDASARIAN

I, John W. Hardin, being duly sworn, hereby depose and state as follows:

There is probable cause to believe that the above-identified individual has committed the
following criminal offenses in violation of United States law: (1) unlawfully and willfully
facilitating trade with [ran and exporting and causing the export of goods from the United States
to iran without the required U.S. Department of the Treasury licenses, as well as attempting and
conspiring to do the same, in violation of the International Emergency Economic Powers Act, 50
U.S.C. §1705, the Iranian Transactions Regulations, 31 C.F.R. Part 560, and Title 18, United
States Code, Section 2; and (2) making or causing to be made a false statement or representation,
in violation of 18 United States Code, Section 1001, and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.

AFFJANT'S BACKGROUND
1. Iama Special Agent with the Department of Homeland Security Investigations,

Bureau of Immigration and Customs Enforcement and have been employed by Immigration and
Customs Enforcement since December 2003. As such, I am an investigative agent or law

enforcement officer of the United States within the meaning of Title 18, United States Code,
Section 2510(7), that is, an officer of the United States who is empowered by law to conduct

investigations of, or to make arrests for, offenses enumerated in Title 18, United States Code,

Section 2516 (7).

2. As aresult of my training and experience, I am familiar with federal laws and

v
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regulations governing the export of goods and technology from the United States, including the
International Emergency Economic Powers Act, 50 U.S.C. §§ 1701-1706. Iam also familiar
with the Iranian Transactions Regulations, 31 C.F.R. Part 560. I bave previously participated in

and conducted investigations of violations of U.S. export laws and regulations.

3. The statements contained in this affidavit are based on information I have learned
through my personal participation in this investigation, from oral and written reports of other ~law
enfomément officers, from records, documents, and other evidence obtained during this
investigation, and from my experience and training as a Special Agent. Since this affidavit is
being submitted for the limited purpose of supporting a criminal complaint, I have not included
each and every fact known to me concerning this investigation. I have set forth only the facts
that [ believe are necessary to establish probable cause to believe that the defendant has

committed the charged offenses.

The International Emergency Economic Powers Act and the Iran Transactions Regulations

4.’ The International Emergency Economic Powers Act (“IEEPA™), 50 U.S.C. §
1702(a)(1), gives the President of the United States broad authority to regulate exports and other
international transactions in times of national emergency. IEEPA controls are triggered by an
executive order declaring a national emergency based on an “unusual and extraordinary threat,
which has its source in whole or substantial part outside the United States, to the national
security, foreign policy, or economy of the United States.” Executive orders issued pursuant to
IEEPA may imposc broad trade restrictions against a particular country that are more

comprehensive than standard export controls, in that an embargo bars U.S, persons from

s



Case 1:16-cv-01594-MHC Document 1 Filed 05/18/16 Page 18 of 28

engaging in a broad range of transactions involving the offending foreign government or its
nationals, unless specific government authorization is obtained in advance.

5. On March 15, 1995, the President issued Executive Order 12959, which continued
previously-issued executive orders, in declaring a national emergency with respect to Iran and the
government of Iran. The executive order was issued based on presidential findings that the
policies and actions of the government of Iran constitute a threat to the national security of the
United States due to Iran's support of international terrorism and its attempts to acquire weapons
of mass destruction. The same or similar presidential findings have been made each successive
year, up to the present date.

6. On May 6, 1995, under exe'cutive IEEPA authority, the President declared a trade
embargo against Iran, prohibiting the export from the United States to Iran of any goods,
technology or services, with limited exceptions for publications, other informational materials,
and donated articles such as medical supplies intended to relieve human suffering. On August
17, 1997, the President reiterated and renewed the embargo by issuing Executive Order 13059,
which remained in effect during the period of the instant offense.

7. In September 1995, The United States Department of the Treasury, Office of
Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”) issued regulations implementing the executive order and
trade embargo (the “Iranian Transactions Regulations™ or “ITR™). See 31 C.F.R. § 560 et seq.
These regulations prohibit the export of goods or services from the United States to Iran without
obtaining a license from the Treasury Department. The ITR further prohibit certain commercial
transactions by United States persons that involve persons in Iran.

8. The Iranian Transactions Regulations impose, among others, the following

=
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prohibitions:
Section 560.204 - Prohibition of any sale or supply of any goods, technology, services to
Iran or the Govemment of Iran:

Except as otherwise authorized [by OFAC]), the exportation,...sale,
or supply, directly or indirectly, from the United States, or by a
United States person, wherever located, of any goods, technology,
or services to Iran or the Government of Iran is prohibited.

Section 560.206 - Prohibited trade-related transactions with Iran; goods, technology or
Services:

Except as otherwise authorized [by OFAC],...no United States

person, wherever located, may engage in any transaction or dealing

in or related to...goods, technology or services for exportation,

reexportation, sale or supply, directly or indirectly, to Iran or the
government of Iran.

Section 560.208 - Prohibited facilitation by United States persons of transactions by

foreign persons:
Except as otherwise authorized by OFAC],...no United States
person, wherever located, may approve, finance, facilitate, or
guarantee any transaction by a foreign person where the transaction

by that foreign person would be prohibited...if performed by a
United States person or within the United States.

Reports to the United States Government and the Automated Export System

9. Pursuant to U.S. law and regulation, exporters and shippers or freight forwarders are
required to file certain forms and declarations concerning exports of goods and technology from
the United States. Typically, those filings are completed through the submission of Electronic
Eprrt Information (“EEI™) via the Automated Export System (“AES”). AES is administered by

the U.S. Department of Homeland Security (“DHS™), Bureau of Customs and Border Protection.

A
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The EEI and accompanying materials are official documents submitted to the DHS in connection

with export shipments from the United States.

10. An essential and material part of the EEI is information conceming the ultimate
consignee and the country of ultimate destination of the export. In many cases, the identity of the
ultimate consignee determines whether the goods may be exported a) without any specific
authorization from the U.S. government; b) with the specific authorization or a validated license

from the U.S. Department of the Treasury; or c) whether the goods may not be exported from the

United States.
SUMMARY OF PROBABLE CAUSE
Background

11. Delfin Group USA LLC (hereinafter “Delfin USA™) is a company located in North
Charleston, South Carolina which supplies automotive, marine and aviation lubricants to
domestic and global markets major customers through bulk shipments to retailers.

12. During all times relevant to this affidavit, MARKOS BAGHDASARIAN (hereinafter
“BAGHDASARIAN™) was the manager of Delfin USA and is a citizen of the United States.
Pursuant to the laws and regulations referenced above, as a United States person,
BAGHDASARIAN is prohibited from engaging in financial transactions involving Iran or the
government of [ran, without the express approval of OFAC.

13. During all times relevant to this affidavit, Individual A was a businessman located in
Iran who, as set out below, entered into an agreement to serve as Delfin USA’s sales agent in
Iran. Individual A also purported to represent a company in the UAE known as Trivision, which

was utilized, at least in part, for the purpose of transhipping Delfin products to Iranian customers.

-
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Further corroborating Individual A’s location in Iran is certain open-source information that
identifies Individual A as a procurement agent and trader of “base oils” for a separate Iranian
company. Additionally, Individual A, who is a lubrication engineer, was an attendee at a 2010
conference in Las Vegas, NV. Individual A’s biographical information detailed in conference
records listed his place of business as Tehran, Iran.

14. During all times relevant to this affidavit, Individual B was an agent of Delfin USA
who operated a business in the UAE known as “Do It FTZ” which was utilized, at least in part,
for the purpose of transshipping Delfin USA’s products into Iran.

The Iran Transshipment Scheme Detailed

15. On June 13, 2010, BAGHDASARIAN sent an email from his Delfin email account
to Individual B that detailed certain specifications on marine oil. In this email, which also

contained a series of emails in a chain, referenced a sales quote offered to Pars Oil, a company

owned by the Government of Iran.

16. On or about the same date, Individual B sent an email to another business associate
in the UAE and to BAGHDASARIAN which stated as follows:

“...we forwarded our [U.S. oil additive supplier] price list to you few days back. You
may use that price for the time being for Pars QOil enquiry. For them to understand about
our product and our price, it would be advisable if you could forward our last mail with
attachment of Price List, Datasheet, and Catalogue to Pars Qil. For any deals with Pars
Qil or any other Iranian company for [U.S. oil additive supplier] products please use only
our personal mail ID...”.

17. On or about July 7, 2010, Individual B sent an email to BAGHDASARIAN at his
Delfin account with the subject line reading “appointment”. The body of the email read:

“Dear Markos,
[An Iranian business associate] is trying to get the Iran management people to come for

sl
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| the meeting so will let us know which day they will be coming 17 or 18th he is thinking
would be possible. Once he advises the firm date [ will advise you. If you have any other
suggestion please advise.
Thanks & Best Regards
{Individual B]”

18. On July 14, 2010, BAGHDASARIAN departed the United States from the Atlanta
International Airport and arrived in Dubai, UAE the following day. I know as part of my
experience and training that, as a result of its proximity to Iran and its status as a global business
hub and transhipment point, Iranian businessmen frequently conduct meetings with western
companies in the UAE.

19. On July 21, 2010, one of BAGHDASARIAN's business associates with whom he
was traveling returned to the international airport in Atlanta and was interviewed by Customs and
Border Protection officers about his travel. Thé business associate told the officers that he had
been to Dubai from July 14, 2010 until July 20, 2010 meeting with business partners in the
petroleum industry.

20. On July 6, 2010, in a series of communications between Individual B and another
individual, (and not involving BAGHDASARIAN directly) Individual B was queried on how
sanctions on [ran could be evaded using Individual B’s company in the UAE. In those
communications, [ndividual B was asked if “payments would be a problem” and “how will u bill
if sanctions™ and told that “still u cannot USA strict and Markos [ BAGHDASARIAN] will have
problem unless u plan.” Individual B then replied that, “material will come Dubai” and then he
would “relabel as UAE product”™.

21. In the same series of communications involving Individual B, the other individual

confirmed that “all u have to do is to buy from [a UAE oil company] and gent inv and then

S
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supply additives and give inv so et difference is the money due which in your case is not there
that is the best and simple way. You have buy locally sell locally and export from DO IT
[Individual B’s Company] showing purchase and at the same time take the permission from
[UAE] to export the same. So u are safe Markos [BAGHDASARIAN] is safe.”

23. In an emaijl dated November 9, 2011, from Individual A to both BAGHDASARIAN
and Individual B with the subject line “Important-Made in USA”, Individual A wrote:

“For us, whatever product is imported, the origin of the product must be mentioned on
them. [BAGHDASARIAN] said they don’t mention “MADE IN USA” on their products
(drums, pallets, etc) when they export. Is it ok to import products into Dubai without the
crigin mentioned on it, especially if it comes from the USA?”

“If the answer is positive, then when DO IT [Individual B's UAE Company] for example
imports a product, sells to Trivision [Individual A’s UAE Company], and Trivision sells
to us here, then [BAGHDASARIAN] can put a very simple label on the drums, pallets,
etc in the US without mentioning MADE IN USA. Then, we will ask

- [BAGHDASARIANT] to kindly send the labels to us separately like before (nice and
chique), and we put it on the products here.”

24. During the electronic mail éommunications chain, Individual A further wrote:

“Piease riention the following on the label with no color or fancy stuff. Label should be
small, like a 4"x3" thing.

RELI 6525 :

LUBESPANOL. Address: 1710 Ferington Rd., Santa Cruz, CA 95064 (same as before)
Labrican: Material”

25. During the course of the investigation, a label was found attached to a barrel of a .

Delfin US A destined for the UAE. The label contained the following information:

MISI 849U

MISI 849U Lubricant Additive

Lubespanol Corporation

710 Ferington Rd.,

Santa Cruz, CA 95064 ‘

For Emergency Assistance Call 800-[redacted]

8
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26. Subsequent investigation revealed that both the address and phone number listed on
the above labe! of lubricant additives were false. The address was not that of “Lubespanol
Corporation” and the phone number listed for “Emergency Assistance™ was actually the toll free
number associated with the intimate appare] company Victoria's Secret.

27. On December 6, 2010, Individual A sent an email to BAGHDASARIAN and
Individual B, wherein he thanked BAGHDASARIAN and Individual B for meeting with him.
The main body of the e-mail contained nine (9) talking points that Individual A addressed, stating
in point one (1) “I will be honored to be your partner in Iran, and I will now magnify my focus on
rendering deals with you possible, having learned thgt you are very sincere and are open in the
marketing, pricing and delivery aspects.”

28. In talking point four (4) Individual A told BAGHDASARIAN and Individual B that,
“[flor now, we will buy from one of your local Dubai-based companies ex-works and will handle
the rest to [ran ourselves.”

29. Individual A then stated to BAGHDASARIAN and Individual B in talking point
seven (7), “I advised the high-consumption DI packs of Behran Qil (Iran Company) which
obviously has similarities with other companies. Behran is the biggest so if we can supply Behran
considering the relations I have with them, it will be good head start.”

30. On May 4, 2012, BAGHDASARIAN was interviewed in the presence of counsel.
During the course of that interview, BAGHDASARIAN admitted that Individual B was an agent
- of Delfin and that BAGHDASARIAN knew that Individual B would not be the final end user of
the Delfin products, despite his representation to the contrary on shipping documents.

BAGHDASARIAN stated further that Individual B’s UAE company, Do It FTZ, was a general
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trading company and had no use for Delfin products, except for resale to other customers.

31. Also during the course of the May 4, 2012, interview, BAGHDASARIAN falsely
claimed that he had no knowledge that Individual A was located in Iran until early 2012, after
law enforcement served a search warrant on Delfin USA and Delfin USA's export privileges
were temporarily suspended by the Department of Commerce.

32. As a federal law enforcement officer, I know from my experience and training that
the above communications involving BAGHDASARIAN, his agent in the UAE, and his agent in
Iran detail a transhipment scheme prohibited by IEEPA and the Iran Transactions Regulations
because it is unlawful to export from the United States any products dr commodities that are
intended, at the time of their export, for Iran or the government of Iran.

33. Moreover, I know from my experience and training that, in order to conceal illegal
activity from law enforcement, products are often mis-labeled so that foreign law enforcement
partners cannot assist the United States in tracking items back to the manufacturer. Finally, I
know that United States persons involved in illegal exports to Iran often enlist business
associates located in free trade zones in the UAE to order to receive bulk shipments from the
United States for immediate and unlawful transhipment to Iran.

34. Accordingly, there is probable cause to believe that any financial transaction
involving BAGHDASARIAN, Individual A, and Individual B is undertaken on behalf of
customers located in Iran.

August 2011 Shipments Destined for Iran

35. On August 25, 2011, Delfin USA attempted to export aviation engine lubricating oils

and polymer worth approximately $850,000 to Trivision and Individual A, with a purported final

10
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end destination in the UAE.

36. At the time of the export, the Department of Commerce, Office of Export
Enforcement, attempted to contact representatives from Delfin USA in order to obtain original
shipping documents and other end-user information regarding the above shipment. All attempts
to obtain information from Delfin USA regarding the sale and end-user of the above shipment
failed.

37. Also on or about August 25, 2011, Homeland Security Investigations was notified by
Customs and Border Protection (“CBP”) that a re-delivery of eight (8) cargo containers had been
ordered due the discovery by law enforcement that Delfin USA was exporting a significant
amount of aviation related lubricating oil to Trivision in the UAE, which was identified on the
shipping documents as a general trading company and would have no obvious use for such a
product in those quantities.

38. On August 26, 2011, a law enforcement agent with the Department of Commerce
contacted BAGHDASARIAN by telephone to inquire about the above referenced shipment.
Following an initial exchange, BAGHDASARIAN stated, “You called our [Delfin’s] sales
department and all they do is the sale; I do all the invoices and slips. They did not know what to
do.” BAGHDASARIAN continued, stating, in sum and substance, that he exclusively handled
exports for Delfin, and, as a result, personally filled out the shipping documents in question. On
the shipping documents, BAGHDASARIAN identified Individual A as the ultimate end-user.

39. This shipment was ultimately cleared for export during the week of October 7, 2011,
and was scheduled to depart the Port of Savannah on October 13, 2011.

40. Cn October 12, 2011, CBP discovered that a another shipment of eleven (11)

Al
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containers had been split into two (2) separate shipments with the ultimate end-users listed as
Trivision and Do It FTZ (Individual A’s and Individual B’s UAE companies respectively). At

the time of export, electronic trackers were attached to two containers. The container destined
for Do It came to rest in the UAE and then timed out. The container destined for Trivision was
tracked to Iran.

41. Even independent of the tracker, I submit that there is probable cause to believe that
the shipments were destined for Iran at the time they were exported from the United States based
on the explicit stated relationship between BAGHDASARIAN, Individual A and Individual B, as
set out in detail above,

42. Atno time did BAGHDASARIAN, Individual A, or Individual B apply for, receive,
or possess a license or authorization from the Office of Foreign Assets Control, U.S. Department
of the Treasury, to export goods, technology, or services, of any description, to Iran.

CONCLUSION

43. Based on the facts set forth herein, and on my experience and training in
investigating cases involving violations of federal law, I submit there is probable cause to believe
that MARKOS BAGHDASARIAN has committed the following offenses: (1) unlawfully and
willfully facilitating trade with Iran and exporting and causing the export of goods from the
United States to Iran without the required U.S. Department of the Treasury licenses, as well as
attempting and conspiring to do the same, in violation of the International Emergency Economic
Powers Act, 50 U.S.C. §1705, the Iranian Transactions Regulations, and Title 18, United States
Code, Section 2; and (2) making or causing to be made a false statement or representation, in

violation of 18 United States Code, Section 1001, and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.

12
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Homeland Security Investigations .
Department of Homeland Se):un'ty

K
4

Subscribed to and swom before me on this g day of May, 2012
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